X. Scholarships, Fellowships, and Loans

Applications for financial aid are to be made on forms available from the Dean of Students of the Law School, except in the case of the National Honor Scholarships referred to below. The attention of entering students is directed to the special procedure and date for making application for the Mechem Scholarships, as set forth below.

SCHOLARSHIPS

_The Floyd Russell Mechem Prize Scholarships_. These scholarships were established in 1959 as a memorial to Professor Mechem, for many years a member of the Law Faculty. In 1962 the awards were expanded and enlarged to provide a stipend, now $3,150 per year, to each of a maximum of ten entering law students chosen by the Mechem Selection Committee on the basis of superior ability, academic qualifications, and promise. The awards are renewable for the second and third years of study at the Law School. The members of the Mechem Selection Committee are: The Honorable Tom C. Clark, Associate Justice, United States Supreme Court; The Honorable Roger J. Traynor, Associate Justice, Supreme Court of California; The Honorable Sterry R. Waterman, Judge, United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit; William Merritt Beaney, Professor of Politics and Chairman, Department of Politics, Princeton University; The Honorable Ross L. Malone, Past President, American Bar Association, Roswell, New Mexico; J. Roland Pennock, Professor of Political Science and Chairman, Department of Political Science, Swarthmore College; The Honorable Whitney North Seymour, Past President, American Bar Association, New York, New York. The recipients of the 1964–65 Mechem Prize Scholarships are: William L. Achenbach, Bloomington, Illinois; William B. Ashworth, Jr., West Hartford, Connecticut; Vincent A. Blasi, Evergreen Park, Illinois; Edwin S. Brown, Glencoe, Illinois; Charles R. Bush, Kansas City, Missouri; Alvin J. Geske, Whitefish, Montana; Irwin L. Gubman, St. Paul, Minnesota; David L. Passman, Chicago, Illinois; and Franklin E. Zimring, Hilo, Hawaii.

Students desiring to be considered for the Mechem awards should obtain a special application form from the Dean of Students of the Law School. _Applications for the Mechem Prize Scholarships must be completed by March 8, 1965._

_The National Honor Scholarships_. The School awards a number of full-tuition scholarships to outstanding students designated by selected colleges. These awards are granted upon the recommendations of the participating colleges. _Applications should be made directly to the colleges concerned._

_The James B. Blake Scholarship Fund_, established in 1951 as a memorial to James B. Blake, J.D., 1907, by his friends.

_The Chicago Title and Trust Company Foundation Scholarships_, made possible through gifts to the Law School by the Chicago Title and Trust Company Foundation.

_The Farmers Insurance Group Scholarship._

_The Milton A. Gordon Scholarship_, established in 1964 through the generosity of Milton A. Gordon, J.D., 1933.

_The Anna Weiss Graff Honor Scholarship_, established in 1961 by the Julian D. Weiss and Shirley W. Weiss Foundation.

_The Francis Kosmerl Fellowships_, established in 1948 by a bequest under the will of Francis Kosmerl, J.D., 1918.

_The Edwin B. Mayer Scholarship._

_The Class of 1915 Scholarship_, endowed by the Class of 1915 and awarded annually to a second-year student in the Law School.
The Class of 1959 Scholarship, provided each year since 1960 by the members of that class.

The James Nelson Raymond Scholarship, established in 1930 from a fund given by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond.

The Arnold I. Shure Scholarship, established by Frieda Shure in honor of Arnold I. Shure, J.D., 1929.

The Leo F. Wormser Scholarships, established in 1935 by friends of Leo F. Wormser, J.D., 1909, as a memorial to him. In 1940 a gift to this fund was made by Mrs. Leo F. Wormser in memory of Mr. Wormser’s mother, Mrs. Frida Wormser; from time to time additional gifts have also been made by the family and friends of Mr. Wormser. In 1956 the scholarship fund was augmented by a bequest from the estate of Mrs. Leo F. Wormser.

The LaVerne Noyes Foundation Scholarships, available to all students of the University who are descendants of veterans of World War I.

The Phi Sigma Delta Scholarship, established by members of the Phi Sigma Delta fraternity.

The Louis H. Silver Memorial Scholarship, made possible by gifts of friends of the late Louis H. Silver, J.D., 1928.

The Mrs. Frank L. Sulzberger Memorial Scholarship, contributed by the Jewish Students Scholarship Fund.

Law School Fund Scholarships. These scholarships are made possible by the contributions of alumni and other friends to the annual Law School Fund campaign. Donors who became Scholarship Patrons in 1963–64 by making gifts equal to or exceeding a full-tuition scholarship were:

DAVID BOROWITZ
SIDNEY DAVIS, J.D., 1942, in memory of his father, Max Davis.
ROBERT FLANNERY
WILLIAM J. FRIEDMAN
GEORGE E. HALE, J.S.D., 1940.
ALBERT L. HOPKINS, J.D., 1908.

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY, Chicago.
WALTER M. PARKER, J.D., 1915.
DONALD N. PRITZKER, J.D., 1959.
JEROME S. WEISS, J.D., 1930.
JERROLD WEXLER
HARRY N. WYATT, J.D., 1921.
Anonymous alumnus.

FELLOWSHIPS

The School has available a limited number of fellowships for postgraduate law study in certain fields in which the School has special programs. The fellowships include the following:

The Bayer Fellowship in Foreign Law, contributed annually by the Farbenfabriken Bayer Corporation of West Germany. The fellowship supports the work of a student in the Foreign Law Program, which is described in detail in Section V.

The Harry A. Bigelow Teaching Fellowships, established in 1947 in honor of a former Dean of the School. Bigelow Fellows are members of the Faculty with the rank of Instructor. They assist in the work of the First Year Tutorial Program.

The Commonwealth Fellowships, awarded for a year of study at the School to a limited number of students from the British Commonwealth who are graduates in law or in jurisprudence of universities of the British Commonwealth.

The Comparative Law Fellowships, awarded to graduates of European law schools who undertake graduate study in the Comparative Law Program, described more fully in Section V.
The Foreign Law Fellowships, awarded to students in the Foreign Law Program, described in Section V. The stipend is $8,000 for the 21-month program.

The Law-Economics Fellowships, available for graduate lawyers or economists who desire to pursue a program of study and research in the law-economics area.

New Nations Fellowships, available for students from the United States or abroad who have a particular concern with research or study relating to legal problems of developing nations.

International Organization Fellowships, for graduate students working in the Program in International Organization for Trade and Development, described in Section XVII.

The James Nelson Raymond Fellowship, created in 1933 and 1934 by Anna Louise Raymond.

University Fellowships, a limited number of which is reserved for research students in law.

LOAN FUNDS

In addition to the scholarship and fellowship aid available, the University administers funds under the provisions of the National Defense Education Act, maintains a tuition-loan program, and is able to offer cash loans through several specially endowed funds.

The tuition loan program provides for loans in payment of tuition and fees only. Notes securing these loans bear no interest while the borrower is a student at the University of Chicago, and only voluntary payments on principal are expected. Thereafter, they bear interest at the annual rate of 3 per cent, and regular monthly payments in the minimum amount of $20 are required. It is possible for students to receive both scholarship and loan assistance.

The special loan funds available exclusively or preferentially to students of the Law School include:

The Harry A. Bigelow Loan Fund, established in 1929 by the Law Class of 1929 in honor of the late Dean Bigelow.

The Bernhardt Frank Loan Fund, established in 1952 by Louis H. Silver, J.D., 1928, in honor of his brother-in-law, an outstanding appellate lawyer.

The Ernst Freund Loan Fund, established in 1922 by the late Professor Ernst Freund and since his death augmented by other contributions.

The Raphael and Rose Golde Loan Fund, established in 1955 by provision of the will of the late Joseph A. Golde, J.D., 1915, in memory of his parents.

The James Parker Hall Loan Fund, established by the alumni of the Law School in memory of the late Dean Hall.

The Ronald G. Hillebrand Memorial Loan Fund, established in 1962 by the Class of 1962 and other friends of Ronald G. Hillebrand in his memory; it is available to third-year, married students in the Law School.

The Law School Student Loan Fund.

The Floyd R. Mechem Loan Fund for Law Students, established in 1921 by the late Professor Floyd R. Mechem.

The Harvey Puchowitz Loan Fund, established in 1955 by friends of Harvey Puchowitz, J.D., 1954, in his memory.

The Ernst W. Puttkammer Loan Fund, established in 1956 by students in the Class of 1958.
The Anna Louise Raymond Loan Fund, established in 1932 for the benefit of students in the Law School, preference to be given to women.


The Frederick and Edith Shaffer Sass Loan Fund, established by Frederick Sass, Jr., Ph.B., 1930, J.D., 1932, and Louis Sass, S.B., 1932, in memory of their parents.

The Ben and May Shapiro Loan Fund, established by Robert B. Shapiro, J.D., 1935, in memory of his parents, is available to students, preferably in the Law School, who are dependent in whole or in part upon their own efforts to secure an education.

The Clark B. Whittier Law Loan Fund, established by Professor Clark B. Whittier, a former member of the Law Faculty.

XI. The Law School Residences

Linn House and Mathews House are the Law School Men’s Residences, located in the Burton-Judson Courts and connected with the Law School Buildings. There are common-room and lounge facilities as well as living quarters for law students. The lounges in Burton-Judson Courts also provide a meeting place for law students and a center for extracurricular activities of the School.

Arrangements may be made by law students not rooming in the Houses to take regularly lunch or dinner, or both, in the Burton-Judson Courts dining halls. Unless special arrangements are made, the assignment of rooms is for a period of three academic quarters. Applications for residence in Linn House and Mathews House or inquiries concerning other housing accommodations should be addressed to the Student Housing Office, The University of Chicago, 5801 Ellis Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60637.

XII. Student Activities and Honors

The University of Chicago Law Review, founded in 1933, is published by the School under the management of a Board of Editors composed of students. Students ranking highest in scholarship upon completion of their first year are invited to become competitors for election to the staff of the Review. From this group the editorial staff and the Board of Editors are chosen. The Editor-in-Chief for 1964–65 is Milton R. Schroeder. Managing Editors are James M. Cowley, Henry F. Field, Peter P. Karasz, and Thomas D. Morgan. The Associate Editors are Frank Cicero, Jr., Phillip E. Johnson, Grady J. Norris, Kenneth P. Norwick, and Michael Schneiderman.

The Moot Court Committee conducts the Hinton Competition, a two-year round robin moot court program open to all students after their first year who wish to advance their technique in the art of brief writing and oral argument. Prizes are awarded to winners of the competition; the team that represents the Law School in national competition is selected from among the most successful competitors in the second year. The Chairman of the Committee for 1964–65 is Dennis R. Baldwin. Other Committee members are D. Rodney Bluhm, Sherman D. Fogel, Patrick H. Hardin, Kenneth L. Pursley, Thomas G. West, and Charles R. Work. The following awards for achievement were made in the 1963–64 competition: William S. Hanley and David L. Paulsen, competition winners; in the second-year competition, Kenneth L. Pursley and Charles R. Work, best brief, and Patrick H. Hardin, best oral argument. The Karl N. Llewellyn Memorial Cup, which is presented each year to the highest scoring team in the second-year competition, was awarded to Kenneth L. Pursley and Charles R. Work. The 1964–